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By the 1840’s, a growing procession of travelers had begun to follow what became, by far, the most important of the overland trails to the Far West. They followed along the Missouri and Platte River Valleys across Missouri, eastern Kansas, and central Nebraska. Along this route, pioneer trading centers sprang up: Independence, Westport (now Kansas City), Atchison, St. Joseph, and Omaha. The first large organized group to travel this trail were the Mormons, who were forced out of Missouri by Gentile hostility. They used the trail to travel toward the Promised Land in Utah along the north bank of the Platte River in 1847.
The Oregon Trail, which followed the south bank, was soon a heavily traveled route. After 1848, thousands of California-bound gold seekers pursued part of its length in covered wagons. The overland mail and freight wagons of the Russell, Waddell, & Majors Freighting Company were dispatched along this route. It was this firm, whose headquarters was in Leavenworth, Kansas, which established on April 3rd, 1860 the famous Pony Express. The Pony Express carried mail from St. Joseph, Missouri to Placerville, California in ten and a half days. The Butterfield Overland Stage Company, which first traveled across southern Missouri on the southern route to California, later transferred to the central route after the beginning of the American Civil War. In 1862, the firm of Russell, Waddell & Majors, having gone bankrupt, was acquired by Ben Holladay. Holladay expanded operations until, by 1866, he had what was probably the country’s biggest individually-owned business, with 5,000 miles of stage line.
The Oregon Trail was never a clearly defined track. In places, the wagons passed in columns that might be hundreds of yards apart. Those traces shifted with the effects of weather and use. In the course of time, nature obliterated many of the fainter traces. Road builders followed the deeper, more permanent tracks because they marked the best route. The Oregon Trail was quickly being forgotten. In 1906, Ezra Meeker, an Oregon settler in 1852 and a tireless champion of the trail, set out in a covered wagon to retrace the route from west to east. Among his goals were to create a general interest in marking the route, to raise public awareness of the trail’s history and heritage, and to point out the loss and damage resulting from careless disregard. Meeker met with Presidents Theodore Roosevelt and Calvin Coolidge, testified before Congress, and made several other publicity trips over the trail before his death in 1928. Today, the National Park Service, in concert with the Bureau of Land Management, the Forest Service, and the states of Missouri, Kansas, Nebraska, Wyoming, Idaho, Oregon, and Washington strive to protect this legacy.
U.S. Highway 30 in Wyoming runs through a land often referred to as "the last frontier." The stages that in the first months followed the Oregon Trail through central Wyoming were in 1862 rerouted. In March of 1862, the Sioux, Cheyenne, and Arapaho, in a united movement, had attacked all the stage stations between the Platte and Bear Rivers, burning many and capturing every horse in the service. Stage passengers were not molested in this period, but many were left stranded in the coaches from which the horses had been taken.
By the middle of 1862, the coaches, after leaving Julesburg, continued to follow the South Platte until they reached the Cherokee Trail; after Overland stages were transferred to this route, it was called the Overland Trail. The Cherokee Trail came north from Fort Smith on the Arkansas River and in Colorado followed Cherry Creek to the point where it emptied into the South Platte, gradually swinging northwestward to cross Laramie Plains and then westward to round the northern flank of the Medicine Bow Mountains; it crossed the Divide through Bridger Pass.
The Cherokee Trail was a natural route well known to trappers. It received its name because the first large groups to follow it were the Cherokee on their way to California in the gold rush of 1849 and 1850. The remnants of this intelligent and able tribe of the Southeast, which had attempted to adopt white men's ways and forms of government, setting themselves up as an autonomous nation, had been forced out of Georgia after the discovery of gold on their lands. Even though the U. S. Supreme Court had recognized their sovereign autonomy, President Andrew Jackson in 1838 refused to restrain white land-grabbers and permitted the natives to be herded west by military force. The Cherokee were segregated in the territory that is now the States of Arkansas and Oklahoma.
Nebraska State Line
This section of the route lies almost straight across the plain between the Nebraska Line and the feet of the Laramie Mountains. West of Cheyenne, it crosses these mountains, rising 1,772 feet in 40 miles.
Pine Bluffs (0.8 mile west of the Nebraska Line on Business U.S. Highway 30 at Main Street)
This was once the center of a vast hunting area, over which wandered the Arapaho, Cheyenne, Ute, Sioux, Blackfeet, and other Indian tribes. Many skirmishes between hunting parties took place in this vicinity.
Point of Interest:
Pine Bluffs High School (E. 7th Street and Elm Street)
This structure was completed in 1929.
Junction with U.S. Highway 30 and Interstate 80 (1 mile west of Pine Bluffs on U.S. Highway 30) (Exit 401)
The travel route joins with U.S. Highway 30 here.
Junction with County Road 140 (Exit 377) (24 miles west of Pine Bluffs on Interstate 30)
Side Trip to Lathrop Hills Monument (Hillsdale, County Road 140 North, County Road 212 East, County Road 142 North, Main Street East)
Lathrop Hills Monument (1 mile north on CR 140, 2 miles east on CR 212, 2.7 miles north on CR 142, 0.2 mile east on Main Street)
On June 11, 1867, Lathrop Hills led a party of surveyors up the nearby Lodgepole Creek, staking out the location for the Union Pacific Railroad, the first transcontinental railroad. Hills was riding out in front of the group when he was attacked by Indians and killed. Within minutes, his men drove off the Indians and later reported they found 19 arrow wounds in his body. He was 35. Hills' work lived after him. By November 14th, 1867, the tracklayers had reached Cheyenne and 18 months later a golden spike was driven at Promontory, Utah, completing the first railroad connection between the East and West and opening millions of acres for settlement. The railroad reduced travel time from the six months required by wagon train to five days from Omaha to San Francisco.
Junction with U.S. Highway 30 West (7 miles west of CR 140 on U.S. Highway 30 and Interstate 80) (Exit 370)
The travel route departs from Interstate 80 here, following U.S. Highway 30 through Cheyenne. U.S. Highway 30, once designated the Lincoln Highway as part of the Rand McNally Auto Trails system of the 1920’s, still bears a number of references to its original name. Through Cheyenne, the route is known as Lincolnway.
Cheyenne (8.8 miles west of Interstate 80 on U.S. 30 at U.S. 85-Warren Avenue)
Cheyenne bears the name of an Algonquian tribe of Plains Indians, who were warlike and skilled horsemen. Major General Grenville M. Dodge, later chief engineer for the Union Pacific, came upon the site of the town while investigating a feasible railroad route over the Laramie Mountains. Dodge and his troops camped on Crow Creek late in the summer of 1865, and two years later, as Union Pacific chief engineer; he chose his old campsite as the location of a terminal town. He named it Cheyenne. His pronunciation of the word is not known, but on July 3rd, 1869, the editor of the Montana Post gave its true pronunciation as 'shai-en-na, with a prolonged breathing accent on the second syllable.' The journalist lamented that in condensing the three syllables into two, the whites were 'losing their beauty as no doubt their meaning.'
As soon as Dodge had selected the site of the U.P. terminus, General C. C. Augur and Colonel J. D. Stevenson established Fort D. A. Russell adjoining the town on the northwest. Word soon got around that Cheyenne would be made a division point, and a heterogeneous population began to drift in while the end of track or 'Hell on Wheels' was still at Julesburg, Colorado, 100 miles away. One commentator of the time divided the population of the frontier into two major groups--those who came West and those who drifted West. Both types stampeded to Cheyenne ahead of the rails. Real estate speculators, gamblers, shopkeepers, freighters, craftsmen, all saw a bonanza in the future division point. Union Pacific as usual claimed the town site and laid out building plots to sell. No one was allowed to settle until titles could be furnished. This policy caused unrest; and, at a mass meeting, the citizens denounced the railroad's legal right to the land. They began to settle where they chose and as there was no court to adjust the dispute, they held their claims with guns. But the army's major assignment on the Plains at the time was to protect railroad property, and a troop of bluecoats from the nearby fort immediately drove the land-jumpers from the town. They were not permitted to return until they agreed to respect company ownership.
On August 8th, 1867, a charter was adopted. Two days later H. M. Hook, owner of the Pilgrim House Hotel and the Great Western Stables, was elected mayor. Four months later, the charter was accepted by the Dakota Territorial Legislature and Cheyenne was incorporated. The first issue of N. A. Baker Daily Leader appeared on September 16th, 1867, and on October 25th, the telegraph line came in from Laporte, Colorado. Difficulties encountered by the telegraph line crews have a place in Wyoming folklore. Indolent buffalo still roamed the treeless prairie between Omaha and the Laramie Mountains in great herds. They regarded the newly set poles as scratching posts, and several bison could rub a pole out of the ground in a few hours. The line boss decided to spike the poles, points out, to discourage them. This, from the buffalo's point of view, added greatly to their value. Within a few hours, according to the legend, a waiting line of 30 buffalo had formed at every telegraph pole between Cheyenne and Omaha. When a lone bison lumbered east from Cheyenne, oldsters allowed he had heard of a vacant pole 'somewhere this side of Omaha.'
By November of 1867, Cheyenne's population had reached 4,000, and lots that sold originally for $150 were bringing speculators $2,500. Citizens lived in anything that would shed rain and sun: covered wagon boxes, dugouts, tents, shacks. More than 3,000 such dwellings had been erected within six months. A wag described the houses of Cheyenne as 'standing insults to every wind that blows.'
On November 9th, John Hardy and John Shaughnessy fought a 126 round prizefight in a makeshift ring downtown. On the same day, Cheyenne's first public school was planned. The rails came on November 13th, and Cheyenne 'blew the lid' in observance of the occasion. The first train was piled high with frame shacks, boards, furniture, poles, tents, and all the rubbish of a mushroom city. When the locomotive came to a wheezing stop, a guard jumped off his van and shouted, 'Gentlemen, here's Julesburg.'
By January 1st, 1868, 300 business houses were operating, supported by trappers, hunters, laborers, trainmen, engineers, lawyers, artists, Sioux, Cheyenne, Pawnee, railway clerks, gamblers, soldiers, promoters, and professional gunmen. Commentators invariably associated the terminal town with Hell, and Cheyenne's reputation ranked with that of Julesburg. General Dodge said in 1868 that it was the gambling center of the world, and its reputation grew with its population. When the Reverend J. W. Cook organized an Episcopal congregation in 1868, he received a letter from Pennsylvania addressed merely ' Cheyenne.' The seditious nature of the frontier is generally overdrawn, but Cheyenne inherited all the lawlessness of the Hell-on-Wheels, in addition to its own soldiery and flotsam. Liquor was cheap, pay was good, and stakes were high for gamblers, confidence men, promoters, and robbers. Soldiers and workers alike were just out of a four-year war where they had been schooled at length in the strategy of quick decision and action. Deaths were frequent, often violent, and the cemetery was as essential as the post office. Both came second to the saloon. Enraged Indians and white ruffians were not the worker's only potential enemies. A drunken friend or straying bullets from someone else's quarrel could be as dangerous. Many workers became as callous and excitable as the bad folk. 'Hell must have been raked to furnish them,' one early Cheyenne visitor said, 'and to Hell must they naturally return after graduating here.'
The provisional government was timid and prudent. The only effective law was of the vigilante brand, and the distinction between the lawless and the 'committee' was one of motive, rather than of function or tactics. Of many similar homicides, it was not always determined which were murders and which were executions. The Dakota Legislature incorporated the city on December 24th, 1867, and buttressed the civic government with what authority could be loaned from far-away Yankton. But town officials continued to rely on vigilante support to preserve peace and property. A log cabin on Thomes Avenue was converted into a jail for tramps and other petty offenders. When the one-room structure became full, W. F. Bailey, in his Story of the First Transcontinental Railroad, relates that Colonel Luke Murrin, first mayor of incorporated Cheyenne, added 25¢ to each fine he imposed, explaining that his was dry work and that the extra quarter was to cover the expense of stimulants necessary to efficient administration of justice. Citizens also complained that Murrin advanced the city's script 18¢ on the dollar during his regime, because he fined all persons $10 who shot at someone else in the city limits, whether they hit their target or not.
Louis L. Simonin, a French mineralogist who visited Cheyenne late in 1867, was impressed. He wrote: ‘This little city, the youngest, if not the least populated of all cities in the world, which no geography yet mentions, proud of its hotels, its newspapers, its marvelous growth, and its topographic situation, already dreams of the title of capital. It does not wish to be annexed to Colorado. It wishes to annex Colorado. As it is the only city in Dakota, and as this territory is still entirely deserted, it does not wish to be a part of Dakota. It dreams of detaching a fragment from this territory and from Colorado and Utah, of which it will be the center. So local patriotism is born, and so local questions arise, even in the midst of a great desert.’
Early in 1868, the churches engineered a civic ordinance that closed all saloons on Sundays from 10 A.M. to 2 P.M. Another statute, poorly enforced, required all visitors to 'check' their guns when entering town. But in January of 1868 a reorganized vigilance committee took a firmer stand. The undesirables were known, witnesses were not required, and the committee's judgment was final. No one kept account but 12 men were known to have been executed before the organization was a year old, and numerous others received less severe judgments. When the railhead was moved west toward Sherman Pass early in 1868, much of the transient population went along. But plans were already drawn for the division point shops, and within a year the grade of a spur railroad to Denver was being completed. Red Cloud was fighting the first Sioux War north of the Platte, and Camp Carlin at Fort Russell was quartermaster depot for widespread armies and a dozen military posts in the Rocky Mountain region.
In January of 1868 Laramie County was reorganized and the county seat transferred from Fort Sanders to Cheyenne. The Wyoming Organic Act was approved by Congress in July of 1868, but the new territory did not function until its officials were sworn in on April 15th, 1869. Brigadier General John A. Campbell, assistant secretary of war in President Grant's cabinet, was named governor. Cheyenne was the largest town in the new territory, and Governor Campbell promptly designated it as his capital. When the territory became a State in 1890, it was still the largest city, and its $150,000 capitol building had just been completed. It continued as the capital city, in spite of murmurs from other growing Wyoming towns.
By 1869, cattle were coming north from Texas, and in 1870, the first Wyoming-finished cattle were loaded at Cheyenne for a European market. By the middle 1870's, the Cheyenne Plains were stocked; the Wyoming Stock Growers Association had been founded; and Cheyenne was the capital of a vast cattle-ranching area. The Englishmen came and the 'foreign' and local aristocracy established the Cheyenne Club. Here the cattlemen sat in winter, sipping rich wines, playing Boston, and determining policies that affected the cattle industry throughout the West. Deals were made 'by the book' and range detectives were hired and sent to safeguard the cowman's interests in far parts of the cattle empire. When the Black Hills (Dakota) gold fields were unofficially opened in 1875, Cheyenne did a good business outfitting prospectors and miners. Long string teams hauled provisions, mining machinery, and a few passengers north from the Cheyenne railhead. Soon the Cheyenne & Black Hills Stage Company began transporting thousands of passengers and much treasure between the railroad and the mines, and the city advanced rapidly. In 1880, the Union Pacific Railroad installed a system of pumps to bring water from Crow Creek into large tanks, from which it was sent through mains to the railroad shops and the business section. The residential section continued to depend on wells. Two years later, water was brought to the city by the force of gravity from Lake Makhplahlutah, a mile and a half away. Electric lights were installed here in 1882, and the sidewalks and streets were paved before 1897.
Points of Interest:
Plains Hotel (16th Street and Central Avenue)
The Plains opened in 1911 as Cheyenne, Wyoming’s premier full service hotel. Distinctive features such as the Range Room Banquet Facility, Wigwam Lounge and two-story lobby mezzanine with stained glass skylight, and finely appointed guest rooms, made The Plains Hotel unequaled in the Intermountain West.i
Union Pacific Depot (15th Street and Capitol Avenue)
This depot was built between 1886 and 1887. The depot is the last of the grand 19th-century depots remaining on the transcontinental railroad. It formed a strategic point along the Union Pacific Railroad, America’s first transcontinental rail line, and was easily the Union Pacific’s most grandiose facility west of its starting point at Council Bluffs. In addition, the depot is one of the best articulated examples of the Richardsonian Romanesque style in the West; it was designed by Henry Van Brunt, one of America’s most distinguished architects, at a pivotal point in his practice.
Union Pacific Depot Park was once the home of an Overland Trail stage coach. The old coach was typical of those used on the Overland and Black Hills Stage routes during the 1860’s and 1870’s.
Union Pacific Railroad Shops and Yards (Entrance from Ames Avenue, between 15th Street and Deming Drive)
Many of the buildings here were built as early as 1889. The machine shop was built in 1919.
Site of Old McDaniels Block (1615 Pioneer Avenue)
This large structure was built in 1877 on the site of the old McDaniels Variety Theater. The theater, destroyed by fire, was a popular resort in early Cheyenne.
Site of the Old Territorial Legislative Hall (Carey Avenue and 17th Street)
In the small frame building that stood on this site, the first Wyoming Territorial Legislature passed the first woman-suffrage law in the United States. The bill was approved by Governor Campbell and became a law on December 10th, 1869.
Wyoming Stock Growers Association Headquarters (1816 Carey Avenue)
After its organization in 1873, this association became one of the most powerful and effective of its kind.
Site of the First Public School (Carey Avenue and 19th Street)
It was here that Cheyenne’s first school was dedicated on January 5th, 1868.
City and County Building (Carey Avenue and 19th Street)
This building stands on the site of the old courthouse where Tom Horn was hanged on November 20th, 1903. Horn, a 'range detective' hired by cattlemen to combat rustlers and others unfriendly to the big cattle owners, was suspected of killing at least a dozen offenders before he was convicted of killing 13-year-old Willie Nickell. The elder Nickell, an Iron Mountain rancher, was running sheep in cow country, and according to a purported confession Horn was paid $500 to kill the rancher, but shot the son by mistake. Horn was held in jail several weeks before his execution and, as the hanging day neared, feeling was high in Cheyenne between the cattlemen and the sheep man-granger coalition. Horn escaped the jail once, and rumors persisted that the cattlemen had 'fixed things' so that Horn would escape secretly at the final moment. After the hanging, Nickell demanded to see the body. The county attorney refused permission, saying he feared a riot. Many persons took this as proof that the law had been 'bought' and, like most celebrated American bad-man heroes, Tom Horn has been 'seen' in various parts of Wyoming since his hanging.
St. Marys Cathedral (Capitol Avenue and 21st Street)
This structure was constructed of Wyoming sandstone in 1917, is 135 feet long and 70 feet wide, the largest church in Wyoming. The floor slopes toward the altar, and no columns obstruct the view.
Capitol Building (Capitol Avenue and W. 24th Street)
The Capitol houses the offices of State officials and the State legislative chambers and committee rooms. The three-and-a-half-story sandstone building, designed in 1887 by D. W. Gibbs, is of neoclassic design. The dome, rising 145 feet above the ground, is 50 feet in diameter.
Lakeview Cemetery (Seymour Ave and 23rd Street)
This cemetery contains the graves of Senator Francis E. Warren, Senator Joseph M. Carey, Senator Robert D. Carey, John (Portugee) Phillips, and Mrs. John J. Pershing and her three daughters. Frances Warren, daughter of Francis E. Warren of Cheyenne, married Captain John J. (Black Jack) Pershing while he was stationed at Fort D. A. Russell in the early 1900's. She and her three small daughters were burned to death in army quarters at the Presidio of San Francisco in 1915.
Governor’s Mansion (300 E. 21st Street)
Built of red brick in Georgian Colonial style, this residence was completed in 1905. The interior was renovated and completely refurnished in 1937.
First United Methodist Church (18th Street and Central Avenue)
On September 29th, 1867, three months before the Union Pacific tracks reached Cheyenne, Reverend W. W. Baldwin, a Colorado circuit rider, conducted the first Methodist worship service at the City Hall in Cheyenne. Nine people formed the Methodist Society. Dr. Scott, a local physician, was the first minister. In 1869, two lots at 18th and Central Avenues were secured from the Union Pacific Railroad for $1.00. Lumber for the white frame church was purchased and shipped from Chicago. On September 23, 1871, Bishop Ames dedicated the building and the congregation moved in.
In 1890, the year Wyoming became a state, the cornerstone of the present red sandstone sanctuary was laid. The white frame church was moved into the middle of Central Avenue, where the congregation met for the two and one-half years it took to complete the present sanctuary. On Easter Sunday, 1894, the new red sandstone church was dedicated. At that time fifty-five members were recorded on the roll.ii
Site of the Cheyenne Club (Warren Avenue and 17th Street)
The Cheyenne Club was built on this site in 1882. Most of the members were wealthy cattle barons from the East and Europe. The Club gained world-wide fame. After the blizzard of 1886-1887, the cattle business was ruined, and the Club lost its glamour. The building became the headquarters for the Cheyenne Chamber of Commerce. It was razed in 1936.
Francis E. Warren Air Force Base (Randall Avenue and Interstate 25 (Exit 11)
Major General Grenville M. Dodge selected the site of Cheyenne for a construction camp in the summer of 1867. General C. C. Augur and Colonel J. D. Stevenson proceeded to establish a military post northwest of the railroad terminal to protect graders and citizens of the new town. Log barracks, officers' quarters, and a hospital were built. The post was named in honor of Brigadier General David A. Russell, who was killed, at Opequon, Virginia, September 19th, 1864. When other forts in the Rocky Mountain region were being abandoned in the early 1880's, Fort D. A. Russell's frame and log buildings were replaced with brick structures. It was gradually enlarged until, at the time of World War I, it was one of the largest military posts in the United States. In 1930, it was renamed in honor of Francis E. Warren (1844- 1929), an American Civil War veteran, first governor of the State, and United States senator from 1890 until 1929. The base’s personnel included such men as General John J. Pershing, whose wife was a daughter of Senator Warren.
On the base grounds, in August of 1867, Captain E. B. Carling established a quartermaster's depot. Supplies reached the depot over a spur from the Union Pacific two miles away, and were carried to 14 military posts within a 400-mile radius by long wagon trains. The post employed 500 men and kept 24,000 head of stock; 100 wagons and 5 pack trains were in use regularly. The stables accommodated 1,000 mules. During the 1870's, the post came within the enlarged Fort Russell reservation. Named for Captain Carling, with the name misspelled, it was also known as Cheyenne Depot. It was abandoned in 1888, its buildings dismantled or moved to Cheyenne or Fort Russell.
Junction with Missile Drive (0.9 mile west of Cheyenne on U.S. 30)
Side Trip to Hecla (Missile Drive North, Wyoming Highway 210 West, Crystal Lake Road West)
Wyoming Highway 210 is also known as Happy Jack Road. It was named for 'Happy Jack' Hollingsworth, who took up a ranch near the foothills of the Laramie Range in 1884. Hollingsworth built a small adobe house and, for many years, hauled wood from the mountains to sell in Cheyenne. He always sang at his work. Later, he left Cheyenne for the San Juan country, where he was killed by Mexicans during a brawl. Many emigrants used the road through Cheyenne Pass in the 1860's, as a cutoff from Fort Laramie to the Laramie Plains by the way of Camp Walbach on Lodgepole Creek.
Wyoming 210 also follows the route of the Colorado & Southern Railroad to Silver Crown Hills.
Site of Camp Carlin (1 mile north on Missile Drive, 0.4 mile west on WY 210 at Carlin Avenue)
Camp Carlin (or Cheyenne Depot) (1867-1890) was the second largest quartermaster depot in the United States. In Wyoming, it supplied Forts Russell, Sanders, Steele, Bridger, Washakie, Fetterman, Laramie, McKinney and Phil Kearney. In Nebraska, it supplied Forts Sidney, Omaha and Robinson. In Utah, it supplied Fort Douglas; in Idaho, Fort Hall; and in Colorado, Fort Meeker. It also supplied annuity goods for the Indian tribes, particularly the Red Cloud and Spotted Tail Agencies.
Silver Crown Hills (1 mile north on Missile Drive, 11 miles west on WY 210, 1 mile north on Boundary Road)
This site is where a gold mining boom in 1885 set men to digging prospect holes. When Professor Aughey announced that a prospect called Carbonate Belle was possibly the greatest bonanza since the Comstock Lode, Cheyenne businessmen agreed to put $500,000 into development work, if the assays were satisfactory. The professor managed to salt the assays, but another professor, Wilbur C. Knight of the University of Wyoming, exposed the fraud. On October 7th, 1935, a major air disaster occurred here, when 12 persons were killed in the crash of a transport plane. The cause of the accident was never determined.
Hecla (1 mile north on Missile Drive, 13.8 miles west on WY 210, 4.6 miles west on Crystal Lake Road)
This mining district on Middle Crow Creek has been worked at intervals since the late 1880's. Men still prospect here for copper, silver, and gold. Ruins of a brick kiln, a copper smelter, log cabins, and adobe houses are scattered near ranch buildings and corrals.
Between Cheyenne and the top of Sherman Hill, a distance of 33 miles, U.S. Highway 30 follows the old roadbed of the Union Pacific, which crossed the Laramie Mountains on a relatively flat summit. The route was discovered by General Grenville M. Dodge and a party of surveyors, who were attempting to escape an Indian attack. Along the road are strangely eroded rock masses. The snowy peaks of Colorado, about 60 miles to the south, are plainly visible, and to the north are rugged pine topped ridges.
Because of difficulties of construction on a 150-mile stretch, the Union Pacific Railroad was allowed double payment for each mile. The wooden Dale Creek Bridge, 650 feet long and 135 feet high, spanning a chasm, was at the time of its construction in 1868 and 1869, the highest railway bridge in the world. It was rendered unnecessary later by a new grade and a long tunnel. The new grade lies about two miles south of the original road bed and 237 feet lower. The Indians, realizing that the road builders were a threat to their way of life, were especially hostile. Every mile of the railway was surveyed and built under military escort. Workers were subject to military drill and had orders to stand and fight if attacked.
Junction with Interstate 80 (Exit 358) (1.7 miles west of Missile Drive on U.S. 30)
The travel route continues straight on to Wyoming Highway 225 here, following the old highway along the railroad bed.
Junction with Interstate 80 and U.S. Highway 30 (Exit 348) (11.2 miles west of Exit 358 on WY 225)
The travel route reunites with U.S. Highway 30 and Interstate 80 here.
Junction with Interstate 80 Service Road (Exit 345) (2.9 miles west of Exit 348 on Interstate 30)
The travel route follows the north Service Road through Granite.
Granite (2.3 miles west of U.S. 30 and Interstate 80 on Interstate 80 Service Road)
This community developed as a railway station with a store, a gasoline pump, and springs of pure water. It was named for the heaps and ridges of stone that marked the countryside.
Junction with Harriman Road (0.7 mile west of Granite on Interstate 80 Service Road)
The travel route returns to Interstate 80 at this junction, Exit 342. The service road, old U.S. Highway 30, continues straight for 1.7 miles until its path was broken by the construction of the expressway.
Buford (Exit 335) (7.7 miles west of Harriman Road on U.S. 30 and Interstate 80)
This was a loading point for the red Sherman Hill gravel used by the Union Pacific in making roadbeds.
Sherman Summit Rest Area (Mile Marker 333) (2.3 miles west of Buford on U.S. 30 and Interstate 80)
This rest area is located at Sherman Summit. The Sherman Mountains are erosional remnants rising above the general level of the surface of the Laramie Range. The flat topped characteristic of the range resulted from beveling during an ancient erosion cycle. Bedrock here is granite, a crystalline rock made up of pink feldspar, glassy quartz, black mica and hornblende, which originated deep in the earth's crust over a billion years ago. The peculiar rock forms of the Sherman Mountains are controlled by three sets of joints, or planes of weakness, cutting the granite and dividing it into large blocks. Weathering has rounded off corners and has enlarged joint planes, resulting in irregular blocky rock masses, many of which are capped by balanced rocks.
Point of Interest:
Old Pine Tree Marker (Located in Rest Area)
This tree, which appears to grow out of a large granite boulder, was kept alive in early days by Union Pacific firemen, who daily drenched its roots. The trunk grows through a great crack in the rock, while the roots are in the soil beneath the boulder. The tree is possibly the most-photographed object in Wyoming. An iron fence protects it from souvenir hunters.
Junction with County Road 234/Monument Road (Exit 329) (3.5 miles west of Sherman Summit Rest Area on U.S. 30 and Interstate 80)
Side Trip to Ames Monument and Dale Creek Crossing (County Road 234/Monument Road South, County Road 222 West)
Ames Monument (2 miles south of Interstate 80 on CR 234)
The Ames Monument is located at a place which was, prior to the relocation of the railroad about three miles south, the highest point (8,247 feet) on the route of the Union Pacific, the first transcontinental railroad to be built in America. When completed in 1882, the Ames Monument stood about three hundred feet south of the Union Pacific tracks and on a knoll which, being 32 feet higher than the tracks to begin with, caused the apex of the Monument to rise 92 feet higher than the railroad tracks. The monument, a memorial to the Ames Brothers of Massachusetts, was designed by the prominent American architect, H. H. Richardson, and built by Norcross Brothers of Worchester, Massachusetts. It was constructed of granite rock native to the area, the light-colored granite being quarried from a jutting pile of rocks one half mile to the west of the monument and skidded by horse and derrick to the construction site. The monument is geometrical, four-sided pyramid, sixty feet square at the base and sixty feet high. “Random ashlar” is the appropriate designation for the type of construction employed in the Ames Monument. “Ashlar” refers to the rough-hewn granite boulders by which the monument was constructed, while “random” refers to the coursing or jointing of the irregular-sized granite blocks in the process of construction. The Ames Monument was erected under the authority of a resolution adopted by the stockholders of the Union Pacific Railroad Company at a meeting held in Boston on March 10th, 1875 in memory of Oakes Ames in recognition of his services in the construction of the Union Pacific Railroad.
Some years after the completion of the monument, a Laramie justice of the peace named Murphy discovered that it was on public land. He immediately claimed the property for a homestead and notified the railroad to take the pile of stone off his 'farm.' To bring Murphy to terms, railroad attorneys were compelled to threaten him with impeachment for conspiracy.
A short distance away is an old cemetery, all that remains of the Old Sherman station, on the Union Pacific. The station was moved two miles south when the line was changed.
Dale Creek Crossing (1.6 miles south on CR 234, 2.4 miles west on CR 222)
It is four miles west of Ames Monument which marks the highest point on the Union Pacific route of the first transcontinental railroad. Situated on the Dale Creek Gorge, the crossing consists of about twelve piers and two abutments of granite masonry spaced evenly along a northeast-southwest line. The two abutments lie directly opposite each other on the brink of the gorge. The piers were constructed for the first Dale Creek Bridge in 1868. The abutments were added circa 1885. Both piers and abutments are constructed of native Wyoming stone cut and fit by hand without the use of any type of mortar. The first Dale Creek Bridge was a wooden structure 720 feet in length. In 1876, the wooden bridge was replaced by an iron one manufactured by the American Bridge Company of Chicago, Illinois. It was constructed upon the same 1868 piers. In 1901, the bridge was replaced, abandoned and then dismantled by the Union Pacific when the line was rerouted. The Dale Creek Crossing is significant for its association with the establishment of the transcontinental railroad which opened the west for settlement following the Civil War.
The Summit (Exit 323) (6.3 miles west of CR 234 on U.S. 30 and Interstate 80)
This junction lies west of The Summit, and the site of Summit Tavern. From the Summit, U.S. Highway 30 drops quickly down the west slope of the range; through Telephone Canyon, it descends 1,669 feet in 9 miles, one of the steepest stretches on the Lincoln Highway. The old Lincoln Highway passed over the crest of the hill, the highest point on the original 3500 mile route from New York to San Francisco.
Point of Interest:
Henry Joy Monument (Located in Rest Area east of Interstate 80)
This monument commemorates the Lincoln Highway, America’s first transcontinental automobile road, and Henry Bourne Joy, the first president of the Lincoln Highway Association (1913). Joy, also president of the Packard Motor Car Company, is sometimes called the father of the nation’s modern highway system. He said that his effort to create the Lincoln Highway was the greatest thing he ever did.
The coast to coast highway existed as a private enterprise, managed by the Lincoln Highway Association and financed through memberships and donations from automobile and road building industries. The association lobbied state and federal governments to support road construction. In 1916, the federal government began granting matching funds to the states and the network of primitive dirt trails that made up the Lincoln Highway across Wyoming began to see some improvement. Much of the original Lincoln Highway evolved into U.S. Highway 30 in the 1920’s and Interstate 80 in the 1950’s.
The Henry B. Joy monument was originally located at the site of one of his favorite camping spots beside the Lincoln Highway in Wyoming’s Great Divide Basin west of Rawlins. He was camping there in 1916 when he saw the most beautiful sunset he had ever witnessed and expressed a desire to be buried at that site. That didn’t happen but his family did provide and place the monument following his death in 1936. It was moved from that remote location in 2001 to protect it from increasing vandalism.
Junction with Business Interstate 80 (Exit 316) (6 miles west of Happy Jack Road on U.S. 30 and Interstate 80)
The travel route departs from Interstate 80 here, following U.S. Highway 30 through Laramie.
Spring Creek (2 miles west of Interstate 80 on U.S. 30)
A camp was once located here, with tourist cabins of local red sandstone. It was owned and operated by Bill Carlisle, one-time train robber. On three occasions, Carlisle sardonically notified the Union Pacific that he intended to rob a train. He would board the train as a passenger, feigning illness; a little later, he would force the brakeman or conductor to collect the cash from the male passengers; and then, with his loot, he would jump from the train, while it was taking a hill. Carlisle's prison term was reduced for good behavior.
Laramie (2.1 miles west of Spring Creek on U.S. 30 at U.S. 287)
This town was named for the legendary French-Canadian trapper, Jacques La Ramie, whose name was also given to a military post, a mountain range, a peak, a river, a county, and a section of the Wyoming Plains. In 1820, La Ramie, a free trapper, worked the tributaries of the North Platte in what became southeastern Wyoming. According to Coutant, he was killed by Indians somewhere along the river that bears his name.
The first settlements near Laramie were the road ranches on the Laramie Plains, along the Overland Trail, in the 1860's. Operators of these ranch stations lived by supplying hay and emergency provisions to stage companies, freighters, and emigrants. When the steel tracks of the Union Pacific Railroad glistened along the west slope of the Laramie Mountains in the spring of 1868, Fort John Buford (Fort Sanders) had already been established near the Laramie River to protect tie workers and grading crows building west of Cheyenne. Several weeks before the tracks arrived, a tent town appeared on the river bank. The railroad company had platted a town site, but allowed no one to settle until lots could be officially sold and recorded. The date of sale was fixed early in April, and land speculators who had done well in Cheyenne were on hand to get choice titles. Within a week, 400 plots had been sold at prices ranging from $25 to $260. Ten days later, 500 shacks had been erected of logs, canvas, condemned railroad ties, and dismantled wagon boxes. The first train slid down the steep grade into town on May 9th, 1868, and with the train came all the population and paraphernalia of 'Hell-on-Wheels.' The first freight carried iron rails, crossties, plows, scrapers, tents, portable shanties, lumber, groceries, cook stoves, crockery, tinware, liquors, and the transient population of the terminal town: gamblers, workers, harlots, hunters, migratory shop and saloonkeepers, peddlers with their packs, and straggling settlers' families.
Work was pushed, and Laramie was not long the end of track. However, the steep grade over Sherman Hill and the barren desert land to the west forecast the need of railroad shops and warehouses at Laramie. Additional settlers came to the new town, and the gamblers and keepers of brothels and saloons quickly saw their business opportunity. Early in May, a provisional government was formed and a mayor and trustees elected. But the lawless element had learned from vigilantes in other terminal settlements the value of union, and in Laramie it organized first. After bucking the outlaw organization three weeks, the government resigned. The period of anarchy that followed was something more than casual outlawry. Brawls and shootings were commonplace. In August, a hesitant vigilance committee of 20 shopkeepers and railroad workers lynched a desperado, who called himself 'The Kid.' Other members of the loosely organized gang regarded the incident as a challenge and terrorized the town. By autumn, Laramie had a more stable population, and war was declared on the ruffians and bullies. Five hundred armed vigilantes planned simultaneous raids on several outlaw strongholds on the evening of October 29th. Although plans miscarried, the group concentrated on the dance hall 'Belle of the West.' In the gun battle that followed, in which most of the town participated, five men were killed and fifteen wounded. Four outlaws surrendered and were hanged to telegraph poles downtown. This demonstration of vigilante strength cowed many of the lawless and they followed the rails west. Others joined the vigilantes, became the most militant advocates of law and order, and eventually controlled the organization. Out of this committee grew the second provisional government, which was chartered in December of 1868 by the Dakota Legislature when it created Albany County and made Laramie its seat.
Under legal guise, the outlaws again intimidated the citizenry, but the Dakota Legislature revoked the charter, dissolved the government, and placed the town under jurisdiction of the Federal courts. It remained so until January of 1874, when it was reincorporated by the Wyoming Territorial Legislature.
During the period of court rule in Laramie, women were first inducted for service on a grand jury in Wyoming. The act of enfranchising women also included the right to hold office, and several months before the voting right could be exercised, Judge J. H. Howe summoned several women to serve on the grand and petit juries in the second district court in Laramie. During March of 1870, Wyoming's woman suffrage law had attracted attention, but the territory received its widest publicity when news of its 'mixed' grand jury got around. King William of Prussia cabled congratulations to President Grant on this evidence of 'progress, enlightenment and civil liberty in America.' Newspaper correspondents came to the frontier to watch the feminine jurors at work. Heavy veils masked the women jurors, and annoyed photographers reproduced them in caricature. The most popular cartoons showed ladies of severe mien jouncing fretting babes while hearing evidence. In the little one-story shack that did duty for store, post office, and courthouse, the six women on the petit jury heard all cases on the court docket. They found one man guilty of manslaughter, in a trial following a duel in a hotel lobby, and convicted others of misdemeanors and felonies ranging from disturbance of the peace to cattle stealing.
The first public school was founded on February 15th, 1869. By summer of that year congregations of the Episcopal, Methodist, Roman Catholic, and Baptist churches organized. The city's first newspaper was the Frontier Index, a tramp publication issued at Fort Sanders early in 1868; later it followed the tracks west and the presses were destroyed by a mob at Beartown. The Laramie Sentinel was published from 1869 to 1895, and several other dailies appeared spasmodically. The Boomerang founded by Bill Nye in 1881 and the Republican established by W. E. Chaplin in 1800 were combined in 1924 and have been published since as the Republican and Boomerang.
A few scrub cattle brought in by road ranchers along the Overland Trail grazed on the Laramie Plains in scattered herds by 1868. By 1870, the railroad had absorbed most of the overland traffic, and the road ranchers left the country or turned their full attention to breeding the cattle they had collected by barter or accident from the wagon trains. This turned out to be good business, and by 1871 the long queues of longhorns from Texas were stringing onto the plains. Both the rehabilitated work cattle and the longhorns did well on the grass prairies, and within a decade stories of the grass bonanza had reached the Atlantic Seaboard and Europe. Eastern and European capital came to Laramie. English gentlemen came, acquired choice ranching areas, built mansions in town, and organized their clubs. After the crash in the 1880's, the 'foreigners' closed their clubs and mansions and returned to their brokerage offices in London or Edinburgh. However, those who had seen hard times as road ranchers stayed on and stocked a better grade of cattle. Sheep were introduced a few years later, and Laramie grew with the livestock industry on the surrounding plains. Mineral outcroppings in the vicinity gave Laramie a brick and tile factory, plaster mills, an iron foundry and roller mill (destroyed by fire), a soda refinery, a cement factory, and an oil refinery. Small veins of gold were discovered in nearby mountains, and for a time Laramie threatened to eclipse the territorial capital on the other side of the Laramie Mountains. Rivalry with Cheyenne became sharper. Newspapers came to the defense of their communities, and editorial broadsides were exchanged.
Jack McCall's arrest in Laramie on August 30th, 1876, for shooting Wild Bill Hickok in the back of the head in a Deadwood (South Dakota) saloon is still remembered by Laramie citizens. One year after McCall's arrest, Jesse James, with several companions, was lodged in the Laramie jail as a suspect in a near-by stagecoach holdup, but was freed before his identity was known.
Shack towns and camps appeared along the mountain gulches west and south of Laramie, where yellow metal was found. Laramie, the promotion center, was optimistic. But the deposits were too slight for intensive development, and the veins petered out. Bonded companies went into bankruptcy, and melancholy ghost towns now dot an area within a 100-mile radius of the city. Solitary prospectors who still haunt the area are dogmatic in defending the region's mining possibilities and are short-tempered with unbelievers.
Points of Interest:
Kappa Kappa Gamma House (1604 E. Sorority Row)
This three-story rambling frame building was moved to Laramie in the middle 1880's from Fort Sanders, where it had served for several years as officers' quarters.
Site of John Wesley Clubhouse (206 S. 5th Street)
This building was a barracks for army officers at Fort Sanders during the Indian Wars.
Site of Wyoming’s First ‘Mixed’ Jury Trial (Garfield Street and First Street)
Wyoming women, serving on a mixed petit jury, heard and decided cases before the district court in 1870. Five women served on the grand jury, six on the petit.
Bill Nye’s Boomerang Office (Garfield Street and 3rd Street)
This office was on the second floor of an old brick building. The first floor was a livery stable in the 1880's, and callers at the newspaper office were greeted by a sign at the bottom of an outside stairs, 'Twist the Grey Mule's Tail and Take the Elevator.' Edgar Wilson (Bill) Nye was born in Shirley, Maine, on August 25th, 1850, and died on February 22nd, 1896, in Asheville, North Carolina. Coming to Wyoming from Wisconsin in May of 1876, Nye was admitted to the bar in that year, served a term in the territorial legislature, and was postmaster and justice of the peace in Laramie. He was news editor of Hayford Sentinel for a time, and when the Boomerang (named for Nye's pet mule) was established as a Republican Party mouthpiece in 1881, Nye was made editor. His humorous writings attracted nationwide attention, and in 1883 he left Laramie to accept a position on the New York World. He later wrote and lectured in collaboration with James Whitcomb Riley. In resigning the Laramie postmaster ship, Nye wrote:
Post Office Divan
Laramie City, W. T.
Oct. 1, 1883
To the President of the United States:
Sir: I beg leave at this time to officially tender my resignation as postmaster of this place, and in due form to deliver the great seal and key to the front door of this office. The safe combination is set on the numbers 33, 66, and 99, though I do not remember at this moment which comes first, or how many times you revolve the knob, or which direction you turn it at first in order to make it operate . . .
You will find the postal cards that have not been used under the distributing table, and the coal down in the cellar. If the stove draws too hard, close the damper in the pipe and shut the general delivery window . . .
Acting under the advice of General Hatton, a year ago, I removed the featherbed with which my predecessor, Deacon Hayford, had bolstered up his administration by stuffing the window, and substituted glass. Finding nothing in the book of instructions which made the featherbed a part of my official duties, I filed it away in an obscure place and burned it in effigy, also in the gloaming . . .
I need not say that I herewith transmit my resignation with great sorrow and genuine regret. We have toiled together month after month, asking no reward except the innate consciousness of rectitude and the salary as fixed by law. Now we are to separate. Here the roads seem to fork, as it were, and you and I, and the cabinet, must leave each other . . .
You will find the key under the door-mat and you had better turn the cat out at night when you close the office. If she does not go readily, you can make it clearer to her mind by throwing the canceling stamp at her. If Deacon Hayford does not pay his box rent, you might as well put his mail in the general delivery, and when Bob Head gets drunk and insist on a letter from one of his wives every day in the week, you can salute him through the box delivery with an Old Queen Ann tomahawk, which you will find near the Etruscan water pail . . .
Mr. President, as an official of this government, I now retire . . .
Bill Nye.
The Hebard House (Northwest corner of Garfield Street and 10th Street)
This is the house shared in the early 1900's by Grace Raymond Hebard and the poet, Agnes Wergeland. Since the death of both educator-authors, the gray two-story frame house has been a family dwelling. Dr. Hebard came to Wyoming soon after graduating from the University of Iowa, was connected with the University of Wyoming as librarian and teacher, and was active in having the provision for equal suffrage incorporated in the State constitution. She wrote several volumes of Wyoming and other Western history, including Sacajawea, an account of the Indian woman who accompanied Lewis and Clark, the explorers, to the West Coast.
Laramie Plains Museum (Ivinson Avenue and 6th Street)
This was once a private Episcopal school for girls. The house, a huge, square, three-story structure with gables and a tower, was the residence of Edward Ivinson, who willed the house and spacious grounds to the church. The combined stable and coach house was been converted into a small social room and nursery. The house was constructed in 1892.
St. Matthew’s Cathedral Close (104 S. 4th Street)
St. Matthew’s Cathedral is built of native sandstone. This congregation is the outgrowth of the first religious services held in 1868 by the Reverend J. C. Cook of Cheyenne. Other buildings in the block are Sherwood Hall, a private dormitory and military school for boys, and the Deanery, both English in design; and the Bishop's House, home of the bishop of Wyoming, designed in Early Colonial style. In the center of the square is a white stone Gothic cross, 25 feet high, dedicated to the memory of Wyoming's Episcopalians killed in World War I.
The Site of the Den of the Forty Liars (Ivinson Avenue and 2nd Street)
On dull afternoons, Bill Nye was accustomed to hobnobbing with friends in the back room of a hardware store that stood on the site. The proportions of the attendance and of the stories exchanged caused the group to become known as the Forty Liars Club, and the building as the Den of the Forty Liars. The organization inspired one of Nye's books, Forty Liars and Other Lies (1882).
Site of Woodmen Hall (University Avenue and 5th Street)
This squat, one-story frame building was built and maintained as a clubhouse by English and Scottish ranchers in the Laramie vicinity during the 1880's. Here the gentlemen ranchers swung cattle deals, sipped burgundy, and danced with ladies in hoops and brocades.
University of Wyoming (9th Street and Ivinson Avenue)
A land-grant institution, the University of Wyoming was founded by a bill championed in the Wyoming Legislature in 1886 by Colonel Stephen W. Downey, father of Sheridan Downey, U. S. senator from California. The university is supported by State and Federal funds. Until 1933, its State funds came from a direct three-eighths mill property tax. In that year, however, the legislature repealed all university tax laws and substituted direct legislative appropriation.
St. Paulus Kirche (602 Garfield Street)
German immigrants constituted the second largest European group to enter Wyoming. In July of 1885, members of Laramie's German community, which numbered about four hundred persons, met to discuss the possibility of forming a congregation, and "securing the services of a minister to preach to them in their own language." The services of a minister, Rev. Johann Frank, were engaged, and the congregation took the name "St. Paulus Deutsche Evangelische Lutherische Kirche." Laramie's Presbyterian Church was used as a meeting place until 1890, Wyoming's year of statehood, when the cornerstone was laid for a new German church. The building was designed and constructed by a member of the congregation, George Berner. Completed a year later, at a cost of $5,000, St. Paul's was the seventh church erected in Laramie, and the first German church in the state of Wyoming.iii
Lehman-Tunnell Mansion (618 Grand Avenue)
This Queen-Anne style residence was completed in 1891.
Wyoming Territorial Prison State Historic Site (1 mile west on Wyoming Highway 130)
The formidable stone dairy barn, with gabled roof and heavily barred windows, was Wyoming's first penitentiary. Completed in 1876 as a Federal prison, it accepted territorial prisoners at one dollar a day. Later, the territory found cheaper quarters for its criminals, first in Detroit, Michigan, and then at Joliet, Illinois. But as it approached statehood, Wyoming became self-conscious; ' Wyoming prisons for Wyoming prisoners,' the legislators said. In 1888, they appropriated funds for the State prison at Rawlins, and until 1900, when the Government closed the Laramie prison, the two institutions competed for prisoners. The Federal prison became too expensive to maintain for the number of prisoners it received.
Fort Sanders Guardhouse (Fort Sanders Road and Kiowa Street)
Fort Sanders was established on July 19th, 1866, as part of the Government's program of military protection for the Overland Trail and the Union Pacific Railroad. The installation was first known as Fort John Buford, for General John Buford, killed on December 16th, 1863. It was renamed for Brigadier General William P. Sanders, who died of wounds in November of 1863. Log, frame, and stone buildings made up the quarters. The garrison did police work among the rail workers, besides protecting them from Indian attack. A newspaper, the Frontier Index, was printed in a boxcar on the equipment train. In the summer of 1868, General Ulysses S. Grant, General Philip H. Sheridan, and General William T. Sherman met at Fort Sanders to discuss gradients and curvatures with railroad officials. According to her own story, Calamity Jane was stationed here in 1871 and 1872, as a scout, after completing a campaign with troops in Arizona. The next spring, she guided a detachment to the Powder River country, where she saved the life of her commander in an engagement with Sioux and Cheyenne.
Side Trip to Tie Siding and Overland Stage Marker (U.S. Highway 287 South)
Tie Siding (17 miles south on U.S. 287)
Tie Siding is a post office on the southeastern border of the Laramie Plains. When the Union Pacific rails reached the Laramie Mountains in 1867, this heavily timbered region, lying between the prairies and the desert, was a bonanza to tie contractors. When the railroad was completed, Tie Siding became a supply center for ranches in the Red Buttes and Pole Mountain areas. In 1931, the hamlet was moved a short distance, to take advantage of travel on U.S. Highway 287.
Overland Stage Marker (26 miles south on U.S. 287 at the Colorado State Line)
The Overland Stage Line crossed the Colorado-Wyoming State Line at this point between 1862 and 1868.
Side Trip to Jelm (Wyoming Highway 230 West, Wyoming Highway 10 South)
Richardson’s Overland Trail Ranch (6.7 miles west on WY 230, 0.9 mile south on Hart Road, 111 Hart Road)
Situated on the open plains of the windswept Laramie Basin, the Richardson Ranch district includes seven buildings and one structure. These include seven ranch buildings, of which six are considered contributing, and a corduroy road segment of the Overland Trail which marks the trail's crossing of the Big Laramie River. The buildings and the one structure of Richardson's Overland Trail Ranch date from 1862 to the early 1980’s, and they reflect the initial settlement of this locality and the evolution of a modern ranch.iv
Serving as a home station on the Overland Trail, the Big Laramie Stage Station was one of the first permanent Euro-American settlements in the region. From 1849 through the end of the 19th century, thousands followed the Overland Trail into Wyoming, across the Laramie Plains, to a toll bridge near here on the Laramie River. The historic crossing of the marshy plains consisted of a corduroy road which today is located southwest of the modern bridge. The surviving corduroy road remnant is all that remains of the trail in this area. In 1862, Ben Holladay consolidated several stage and freight operations to form the Overland Stage Company, which he moved from the Oregon Trail south to the Overland Trail. The new route proved to be both shorter and safer. He improved the trail and stage stations as he rose to dominate the stage, freight, and mail businesses. Constructed in 1862, Big Laramie Stage Station served as a “home station,” where drivers’ routes ended and passengers obtained meals while horse teams were changed. Wells Fargo and Company bought Holladay’s operation in 1866, three years before the completion of the Union Pacific’s Transcontinental Railroad, which ended use of the Overland Stage. The Trail, however, continued to be used by local travelers and those unable to afford railroad fare.
Woods Landing (27.1 miles west on WY 230)
Point of Interest:
Woods Landing Dance Hall (2731 Wyoming Highway 230)
Samuel Wood established a 160-acre homestead on the Laramie River near present-day Woods Landing through the Homestead Act of 1862. In 1883, with his holdings and help from his brother, Samuel Wood established the post office and dance hall that stand in Woods Landing today. The dance hall, which had a saloon, was a popular stop for freighters, stagecoach drivers and tie hackers working the timber mills in the area.
Later, Samuel and Nelson Wood were able to secure more land through the General Mining Act of 1872 and the Timber and Stone Act of 1878, which they used to start mines (including the Cummins City Mine) and timber mills in the area. As time went on, Woods Landing became one of the most popular “summer resorts” in southern Wyoming. Samuel Wood continued to run the dance hall and the post office as postmaster until he died from complications due to pneumonia on May 20th, 1901, at his son Ralph Wood’s home in Saratoga, according to an obituary that ran in the Saratoga Sun newspaper three days later.v
Jelm (27.1 miles west on WY 230, 3.6 miles south on WY 10, 1.6 miles west on USFS Road 535)
This post office is on the site of Cummins City. On the grassy bottoms here, a city of 170 blocks was laid out in the 1870's, when John Cummins displayed ore samples, which he asserted he had found nearby. A Denver company paid $10,000 for rights in the vicinity, only to find that Cummins had salted the area.
N. K. Boswell Ranch (27.1 miles west on WY 230, 8.7 miles south on WY 10 at Boswell Road)
Deputy United States Marshal Nathaniel K. Boswell was the first warden of the Wyoming Territorial Prison in Laramie. Boswell came to Cheyenne in 1867. There, for several years, he operated a drug store. He subsequently served as the first sheriff of Albany County before being appointed as a Deputy United States Marshall, in which capacity he served as warden. During his career he arrested, among others, Jack McCall. McCall is noted as the one who shot James Butler "Wild Bill" Hickok in the back as Hickok was playing poker with Carl Mann, Captain William R. Massic, and Charles Rich in Nuttall & Mann's Saloon Number 10 in Deadwood City. Hickok held the winning hand, ace of spades, ace of clubs, eight of spades, eight of clubs, and either a queen or jack of diamonds. Aces and eights are now commonly known as the "deadman's hand." Boswell also arrested the notorious stage robber George "Big Nose" Parrott. One of his deputies was Malcolm Campbell, later the Sheriff of Converse County. Boswell was also noted as a marksman, shooting John Kelly, on the run, at a distance of 200 yards. Boswell was a Republican and participated in Theodore Roosevelt's famous 55 mile ride from Laramie to Cheyenne. The ranch house was constructed by Tom Walden about 1878.vi
Side Trip to Brooklyn Lodge (Wyoming Highway 130 West)
Vee Bar Guest Ranch (23 miles west of U.S. 30 on WY 130)
The Vee Bar Ranch served as ranch headquarters for Lionel C. G. Sartoris, a cattle baron, and Luther Filmore, a stockgrower and division superintendent for the Union Pacific Railroad. The Wright family also raised stock, ran a stage and freight station, and entertained dudes at the ranch. Their daughter Agnes Wright Spring became a noted regional historian. The ranch is directly associated with the ranch, rail, freight, and tourism industries, all important components of the area’s economic history. It is a typical but exceptionally well preserved example of the evolution of such operations. The Vee Bar Lodge was built as a home for Lionel Sartoris in 1891. Sartoris was an English cattle baron, representative of the heyday of the cattle industry in the West. He was a partner in the Douglas William Sartoris Cattle Company, worth an estimated $2 million in 1885. The Vee Bar Ranch district is composed of five contributing buildings, the original corral system, and stock chute. The buildings and corral structures are excellent representatives of the rough vernacular traditions of Wyoming’s early settlement architecture.vii
Centennial (29.7 miles west of U.S. 30 on WY 130)
Points of Interest:
Centennial Depot (2734 Wyoming Highway 130)
The depot was dedicated on July 4th, 1907, as part of the Laramie, Hahn's Peak & Pacific Railroad, which later ran from Laramie to Walden. On May 25th, 1975, the depot was moved to a donated piece of land and the Nici Self Museum was created.viii
Mountain View Hotel (Snowy Range Road and Weber Creek Road)
The Mountain View Historic Hotel was built by the Isaac Van Horn-Fred Miller Syndicate as part of the grand plan for Centennial, which included a dance pavilion, a bank, a newspaper office and a polo grounds. The original hotel was painted white with black trim and was built at a cost of $8,000. It boasted 20 guest rooms, dining room and a "most improved system of plumbing." The bathrooms, however, ended up in the stables. It opened in time for the much anticipated arrival of the Laramie Plains, Hahns Peak & Pacific Railroad on July 4th, 1907 and was dedicated in a "golden spike" ceremony.ix
Brooklyn Lodge (37.6 miles west of U.S. 30 on WY 130 at Brooklyn Lake Road)
Brooklyn Lodge, named for nearby Brooklyn Lake, is significant because of its association with the development of dude ranching and the tourist industry. The lodge was built during 1922 and 1923. At this time, dude ranching was in the process of evolving into guest ranches and resorts where visitors no longer participated only in day to day ranch work, but also in activities catered to their interests. Brooklyn Lodge provided quiet solitude, fishing, and horseback rides into the surrounding mountains beginning in 1924 with its first paying guests. The lodge is also important because of its association with Harry D. “Hoot” Jones. Born in 1882, Jones established himself as one of the most skilled rodeo performers in the Rocky Mountain Region. Inspired by Libby Lodge, a nearby guest ranch which had opened in 1919, Jones selected a location to build his guest ranch, the Brooklyn Lodge. The Jones family operated the Lodge into the late 1930’s.x
From Laramie, U.S. Highway 30 joins with U.S. Highway 287 to Rawlins. Following a northerly course for nearly 50 miles, U.S. 30 edges gradually away from the Laramie Mountains; then it veers westward through rugged hill country and emerges on dry plains near Walcott. Immediately beyond Laramie, the highway runs northward over level grassland. The ranching country along the Laramie River was settled chiefly by wealthy Englishmen and Scots in the 1880's. Many of the fields of hay belonged to the King Brothers, known throughout the world for their purebred sheep.
Bosler (19.1 miles north of Laramie on U.S. 30 at Howell Road)
This community bears the name of the former owner of the Diamond Ranch. The Diamond for some time was headquarters of Tom Horn, who was charged with being paid by the big cattle interests to keep the range clear of sheep.
Junction with County Road 740 (0.8 mile north of Bosler on U.S. 30)
Side Trip to Old Highway 30 Bridge (County Road 740 East)
Old Highway 30 Bridge (1 mile east on CR 740 at the Laramie River)
The Wyoming Highway Department awarded the construction contract for this bridge in May of 1926 to N. A. Swenson of Laramie as part of Federal Aid Project 156B. Originally located over the Laramie River on the Bosler-Laramie Road (the old Lincoln Highway, U.S. 30), this bridge was replaced in 1932 by two 100' spans, which were in turn replaced in 1947. Now located on a secondary county road north of Bosler, this bridge is distinguished somewhat as the only two-span Pratt Half-hip still in use in the state. It is one of the best examples of a relatively uncommon truss configuration.xi
Rock River (18.9 miles north of Bosler on U.S. 30 at WY 13)
Great concrete snow sheds were built over the railroad tracks here and also north of the town, after a 1916 blizzard had tied up overland trains for more than a week.
Point of Interest:
First National Bank of Rock River (131 Avenue C)
This structure was built in 1919. In 1923, the First National Bank and the Rock River State Bank were involved in a financial scandal and both failed.
Side Trip to Arlington (Wyoming Highway 13 South)
Arlington (17.5 miles south on WY 13)
This post office was located on the ranch of Alvy Dickson, an old-time ranchman, is at the site of the old Rock Creek Crossing on the Overland Trail, used in the 1860's. Here, in 1865, the Cheyenne
attacked a train of 75 wagons and surrounded a family named Fletcher. They killed the mother, wounded the father (who hid in a ditch and escaped), and captured the two daughters, Mary, 13, and Lizzie, 2. Three sons escaped. Mary was struck with several arrows but pulled them out with her own hands. The marauders fled to the mountains; there Mary, separated from Lizzie, watched the wagons burning in the valley. For weeks, Mary tramped with the squaws, while the braves led the way on ponies. She dressed and painted like an Indian, cared for 14 ponies and helped gather firewood, waded and swam streams, and struggled through deep snows. In the spring of 1866, aided by jealous squaws who wanted to get rid of her, she got in touch with a white trader named Hanger, who paid a horse, a gun, and $1,600 for her release. A year later, she found her father in Salt Lake City.
Thirty five years after the raid, a white woman, who spoke only Arapaho, visited Casper with some Indians from the Wind River Reservation. Mary Fletcher read about her in a newspaper, returned to Wyoming, and identified the woman as her sister. Lizzie remembered nothing about her capture, and refused to go back with Mary. The proof that she was white, however, gave her a sense of superiority to the Indian women among whom she lived. It also elevated her Arapaho husband, John Brokenhorn. When lands were allotted the tribe in 1908, Brokenhorn refused his share, contending that the white men's Government had no right to confine Indians to a part of the land which was wholly their own.
Visit: http://www.smashwords.com/books/view/98439 to purchase this book to continue reading. Show the author you appreciate their work!